THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-40-4666  
**Appellate Case No. 2016-001198**

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 15 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Kim Murphy, Appellant,

v.

Richland Lexington School District 5 Board of Trustees, Bobby Merle Bowers, and Robert Gantt,  
Defendants,

Of whom Bobby Merle Bowers and Robert Gantt are the Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

J. Lewis Cromer, Esquire (#1470)  
Cromer Babb Porter & Hicks, L.L.C.  
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A  
Post Office Box 11675  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT MURPHY DID NOT HAVE A TRIABLE CIVIL CONSPIRACY CLAIM AGAINST BOWERS AND GANTT?
  
- II. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON MURPHY'S DEFAMATION CLAIM AGAINST GANTT ON THE BASIS OF MALICE, PER SE DEFAMATION, AND ON THE BASIS OF PRIVILEGE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Kim Murphy, filed this action on July 28, 2014 alleging civil conspiracy against Respondent Bobby Bowers (“Bowers”) and Robert Gantt (“Gantt”), as well as defamation against Gantt. (R. pp. 49-52, ¶¶ 19-31). Murphy is a former Board Trustee for Richland-Lexington School District 5 (“Board”). (R. p. 45, ¶ 1). Gantt served as Chairman and later Vice-Chairman of the Board at all times relevant to this matter. (R. p. 45, ¶ 3). Bowers served as the Director of Budget and Control Board’s Office of Research and Statistics at all times relevant to this matter. (R. p. 45, ¶ 4).

Bowers filed a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim and a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 31, 2015, requesting the court to dismiss Murphy’s claim for civil conspiracy. (R. p. 246). Gantt filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 8, 2016, seeking summary judgment as to both the civil conspiracy and defamation claims. (R. p. 246) Separate counsel for Gantt filed a separate Motion for Summary Judgment on January 20, 2016, which addressed only the defamation claim. (R. p. 246) Murphy opposed those motions. (R. p. 246) Those motions were heard by the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III on February 29, 2016. (R. p. 1). Judge Early filed an order on April 8, 2016 granting summary judgment on both claims. (R. p. 1). Bowers’ Motion to Dismiss was not ruled on, but merged into his Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 1) Murphy next filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP Motion to Reconsider on April 26, 2016; that motion was denied on May 31, 2016. (R. pp. 34; 192-217). The Board was dismissed from this appeal by mutual stipulation of dismissal.

## FACTS

Murphy is a former Board Trustee. (R. p. 339). Murphy and her husband have three children, all of whom went to public school in Richland-Lexington School District 5 (“District”).

(R. p. 892). Murphy was active in District related activities, attended Board meetings, and kept well-informed of the issues facing the District. (R. p. 1833). Murphy continues to attend Board meetings. (R. p. 345). When she built her home in 2001, located on Old Laurel Lane, in Chapin, South Carolina, Murphy registered to vote and began paying taxes in Richland County. (R. pp. 377-91).

**a. Murphy's 2004 Board Campaign**

Murphy ran for election as a Richland County candidate to the Board in 2004. (R. p. 1054). Gantt ran against Murphy during this election. (R. p. 1054). Stewart Mungo ("Mungo"), a supporter of Gantt, told Gantt during the campaign that he believed Murphy lived in Lexington County. (R. p. 1054) However, Gantt did not look into Mungo's claim at the time. (R. pp. 1835, 1853). Gantt won the election, and was subsequently re-elected in 2008. (R. p. 1054).

**b. Murphy Engaged in Litigation Concerning Construction at Chapin High School**

Murphy was active in District issues, particularly a large renovation project at Chapin High School ("CHS"). (R. p. 352). The District approved a bond referendum to raise taxpayer funding for the costly construction needs of the project. (R. p. 1840). Murphy had concerns regarding the environmental impact of the construction on the community and a stream that ran through her property. (R. p. 353). As a result, Murphy filed a legal action to halt a portion of the renovation and force the District to use a more environmentally-friendly solution. (R. p. 353) That litigation began in 2010. (R. p. 353)

A non-profit group, Maggie Stroud and D5 Citizens Ensuring the Implementation of the Referendum, Inc. ("Maggie Stroud"), which included Board Member Jondy Lovelace, formed and filed a lawsuit against Murphy for monetary damages as a result of Murphy's CHS litigation. (R. pp. 351, 645). The Board requested during the September 12, 2011 meeting "that the South

Carolina School Board Association review a TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AGAINST DEFENDANT MURPHY obtained by [Maggie Stroud] and consider providing assistance to [Maggie Stroud].<sup>1</sup>” (R. pp. 1736-37).

**c. Murphy Successfully Runs for a Board Seat in 2010 While CHS Litigation is Pending**

Murphy’s residence was not an issue during her 2010 campaign. (R. p. 1838). The Richland County Election Commission approved Murphy to run for her seat. (R. p. 1075). Murphy was elected to the Board, despite her ongoing CHS case appeal, and began her four-year term of office in the final quarter of 2010. (R. p. 1837).

**d. Murphy was Ostracized by Gantt and Other Board Members Upon Being Elected and Throughout Her Tenure**

Gantt and Murphy had their differences during her tenure; the two often opposed one another on issues and engaged in arguments. (R. p. 1055). Murphy sent a letter to Gantt and her Board colleagues in December 2010 regarding her concerns about the District, funding, and student affairs. (R. pp. 1746-54).

Murphy’s Board colleagues publically expressed a general frustration with her because of her outspoken views, and Gantt sanctioned her in meetings when she spoke out about various issues. (R. pp. 1062, 1868). Attendees became combative in several Board meetings, especially towards Murphy. (R. p. 1868) Community members reached out to the Board as a whole, and to members individually, to complain that Murphy was being targeted and singled out for her views and statements. (R. pp. 1742-44). Specifically, a citizen wrote an email to Ed White (“White”), a Board member, on June 14, 2011, which stated:

My wife and I recently moved to Irmo; we attended last night’s school board meeting in an effort to become more familiar with

---

<sup>1</sup>Citing quotation as it was written, including emphasis.

our new community. We were appalled by the lack of sensitivity shown to [Murphy] during the meeting.

It was most appalling that Mr. Gantt never once cited you for twisting the truth even when you manufactured numbers to make a case that [Murphy] was squandering taxpayer money when she came forward with a concern about location of practice fields.

It was most appalling to listen to your diatribe of being appalled that [Murphy] had released a taped segment of a board meeting to the public – you shrieked about the nerve of her to inform and enlighten members of the community! When a proposal was made to tape future meetings for the purpose of increased community involvement six [of the seven] members of the board voted it down – that was appalling.

(R. p. 1742). This behavior continued to be directed towards Murphy by Gantt and other Board members. (*See* R. pp. 1717-25, 1738-40). Board members singled out Murphy regarding her CHS lawsuit by adding statements to Board minutes that bullied, belittled, and demeaned her for her attempts to ensure that the District considered all cost efficient and environmentally friendly plans for construction. (R. pp. 1717-25). Two Board members stated that Murphy's behavior "[was] shameful and disrespectful" and accused her of lying. (R. p. 1740). Gantt permitted students to personally and viciously attack Murphy during Board meetings, which led to Murphy feeling ostracized, attacked, threatened, and fearful of harm. (R. p. 1741).

Board members, including Gantt, voted on resolutions to prevent Board members from initiating legal actions against the District during the course of Murphy's CHS lawsuit. (R. pp. 1717-25). The Board posted its public condemnations of Murphy's concerns on the District's website, along with documents relating to the CHS litigation, including portions of Murphy's deposition, mediation offers, restraining orders, and other information, but excluded materials that would support Murphy's position. (*See* R. pp. 1787-89). Gantt testified that he knew that deposition testimony from the CHS litigation was posted to the District's website. (R. p. 1056).

This behavior continued throughout the course of Murphy's CHS litigation, including Board members publically complaining about the amount of alleged legal fees Murphy's case was costing the District. (*See* R. pp. 1712-25, 1787-88).

The District posted a message on an elementary school marquee at the conclusion of the CHS litigation that read, "District wins lawsuit." (R. p. 1056). Murphy and others throughout the community reasonably believed the marquee was about her. (R. pp. 887-88). Gantt testified that he is not aware of any other lawsuits or similar announcements posted on school marquees like the one referencing the CHS litigation involving Murphy. (R. p. 1056).

This behavior further escalated when other Board members, including Gantt, publically supported, called upon other agencies to support, and became involved with Maggie Stroud, Murphy's primary opponent in interest in the CHS litigation. (R. pp. 1736-37).

**e. Murphy's Home Residency Reappears on the Board Radar with Gantt**

The next election cycle after Murphy was elected to the Board occurred in 2012, where Gantt ran for re-election and was successful. (R. p. 1845). Gantt testified that the issue of Murphy's residence was brought to his attention, for a second time, in the fall of 2012, and Gantt then looked into the issue. (R. p. 1845)

**f. Gantt and Bowers's Testimony<sup>2</sup>**

**1. Gantt's Testimony Involving Murphy's County of Residence**

Gantt testified that Bowers, a South Carolina Budget and Control Board ("SCB&CB") employee, informed him, on or around October 2012, that an unidentified person informed Bowers that Murphy lived in Lexington County. (R. pp. 1845-46). Bowers did not discuss any

---

<sup>2</sup>Although sworn testimony reveals that Gantt and Bowers communicated prior to any official inquiries being initiated regarding Murphy's residence, the two witnesses have conflicting stories about whether Gantt or Bowers began the sequence of communications regarding Murphy's residency.

basis for stating that Murphy lived in Lexington County or his source of information during this conversation with Gantt. (R. p. 1057).

Gantt visited Bowers's office approximately a week to ten days after speaking with Bowers to speak with him directly about Murphy's residence, but Bowers was not at the office during that time so Gantt spoke with Will Roberts ("Roberts"), a SCB&CB employee, who reported directly to Bowers. (R. pp. 1057, 1847).

Gantt immediately contacted attorney Ken Childs ("Childs") after speaking with Roberts, legal counsel for the District, to discuss his conversation with Bowers and his brief meeting with Roberts. (R. pp. 1847-48). They scheduled a meeting between Gantt, Bowers, Childs, Beth H. Watson ("Watson") (another Board member), and other attorneys from Childs's law firm. (R. p. 1849).

The meeting occurred approximately a week after Gantt had been re-elected. (R. p. 1849). During the meeting, the participants reviewed several detailed maps that showed the location of Murphy's residence on Old Laurel Lane in Chapin and discussed the location of that residence in relation to the Richland/Lexington County line. (R. p. 1849) Gantt was advised during the meeting that if he wanted to move forward into investigating the location of Murphy's residence, the District would have to make a formal request to Bowers. (R. pp. 1058, 1850). Childs drafted several formal requests for Gantt to sign and sent drafts of the same to Bowers's office for approval before submitting the formal request in December 2012. (R. pp. 1066, 1759-60). Gantt did not inform Murphy about the meeting or that he made the formal request, and she did not learn about any of this information until the January 2013 Board meeting. (R. p. 1857).

## **2. Bowers's Testimony Involving Murphy's County of Residence**

Bowers testified that he initially learned from Stewart Mungo that there could be an issue regarding the county of Murphy's residence years before these events. (R. p. 1099). Bowers testified he later received a call from Gantt about the same issue involving the location of Murphy's home. (R. pp. 1105-07). Gantt told Bowers during this phone conversation that he wanted Bowers to investigate the location of Murphy's residence, and Bowers agreed he would proceed if Gantt made a formal request. (R. p. 1105).

Childs drafted a letter on Gantt's behalf after Gantt's phone conversation with Bowers and sent it to Bowers for review before formally submitting it to Bowers's office to initiate the request. (R. pp. 1759-60). Bowers testified that he did not meet with Gantt or anyone from the District before giving directives to his employees, but Roberts and Gantt testified that they both met with Bowers prior to Gantt making the formal, written request. (R. pp. 1059, 1109, 1204).

### **g. SCB&CB Investigation into Murphy's County of Residence**

Roberts and SCB&CB first experienced dealings with Murphy's residency in September or October of 2012. (R. p. 1181). Roberts served as the State Political Cartographer for SCB&CB and was responsible for assisting the county voter registration offices to ensure that voters are assigned to the correct districts. (R. pp. 1175, 1182). SCB&CB flagged Murphy's residence, along with several other properties, as being in the incorrect county during a routine check in September or October of 2012. (R. p. 1182). Roberts called Lexington County's voter registration office to discuss these properties after learning this information, but he did not call Richland County. (R. p. 1183).

Roberts met with Alan Jon Zupan ("Zupan") for about thirty minutes to discuss maps generated by Zupan and the staff in GIS on October 16, 2012. (R. p. 1194). Zupan worked in the

geodetic survey section (“GIS”) of SCB&CB. (R. pp. 1468-69). Roberts and Zupan discussed the location of Rocky Ford, a point delineated by statute to be connected to the Richland/Lexington County line (which has been in dispute for years), situated near Murphy’s property on Old Laurel Lane in Chapin. (R. pp. 1194, 1706-08). Roberts learned that Zupan located Rocky Ford years prior<sup>3</sup> by using a global position system (“GPS”) to obtain the longitude and latitude of the ford. (R. p. 1194). SCB&CB did not take any further action with regards to Murphy’s property until receiving Gantt’s formal request to Bowers. (R. pp. 1204-08).

Bowers directed his staff, including Roberts and Zupan, to investigate Gantt’s inquiry after receiving the formal inquiry from Gantt on December, 20, 2012. (R. p. 1119). Roberts reviewed official house and senate district maps along with United States Census Bureau County Boundary data to try to determine Murphy’s county of residence. (R. p. 1209). Roberts also reviewed the PL 94-171 database, which is used for official redistricting in South Carolina. (R. p. 1211). Roberts did not review any other information, and he did not visit Murphy’s property. (R. pp. 1212-14). Roberts and Zupan then met again to discuss Murphy’s property, and Roberts informed Zupan that discrepancies existed between the information that Roberts reviewed and the information from the United States Census Bureau. (R. p. 1475). Roberts also testified that the precinct lines, tax lines, and county lines did not match for Richland and Lexington Counties. (R. p. 1252; *see also* R. p. 1820).

Roberts and Zupan then began co-drafting a letter for Bowers to send to Gantt that outlined the sources of the information that were used to make a determination as to the county location of Murphy’s residence. (R. p. 1217). SCB&CB did not conduct any further research,

---

<sup>3</sup>Zupan along with Sid Miller (“Miller”) visited the purported location of Rocky Ford in 1995 and learned, after speaking to two different property owners in the area that there were two fords in the general vicinity of Rocky Ford. (R. pp. 1486-87). Zupan ultimately concluded that the northern ford was Rocky Ford; he revisited the site prior to the 2014 hearing before a referee to confirm his findings from 1995 using GPS. (R. p. 1507).

other than Bowers's letter to Gantt dated January 11, 2013. (R. pp. 1119-21). Bowers felt that a survey was unnecessary<sup>4</sup> and did not visit Murphy's property himself. (R. pp. 1119-21) The only land survey that was completed as it relates to Murphy's residence was a survey conducted by Lucius Cobb ("Cobb") done many years before, which indicates that Murphy's home is in Richland County. (R. p. 1481).

Bowers cited to three sources in his letter to Gantt that were used by his office to determine that Murphy lives in Lexington County: (1) information from the U.S. Census Bureau, (2) information from precinct maps, and (3) the maps authored by Zupan from GIS. (R. pp. 1756-57). Zupan testified that the United States Census Bureau and precinct information could not stand alone to support the finding that Murphy's home is located in Lexington County and that he had to rely upon his own maps and GIS information to determine the location of Murphy's residence. (R. pp. 1511-12).

Zupan testified that two of the maps he generated to show Murphy's county of residence had two inconsistent lines, and they did not match.<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 1518, 1819-20). Zupan testified that as it related to his work regarding the inquiry into Murphy's county of residence, he only used the old statutory description to find the appropriate bearings and shot the bearings from his determined Rocky Ford location allegedly located in 1995 because he did not have the time to do the additional work that would have been required due to his involvement with the North

---

<sup>4</sup>John Cloyd ("Cloyd"), former Tax Assessor for Richland County, testified that his office was "continuously hav[ing] trouble where the darn thing [Rocky Creek] was. And one of our requests to the Geodetic Survey was, boy, when you get this Rocky Creek thing done, don't stop." (R. pp. 1707-08, 1761-64). Cloyd also discussed that the Rocky Ford boundary was being studied in 2013 but was not a priority for the geodetic surveyors because they were working on the Jocassee Gorge boundary. Gantt knew there was a boundary issue near or around Murphy's property and had previously worked with maps, according to Cloyd's testimony. (R. pp. 1704-05). Cloyd also testified that Murphy is the only public official he knew of being removed from her elected seat mid-term. (R. pp. 1709-11).

<sup>5</sup>The issue of Zupan's maps containing inconsistent lines becomes crucial when one of the maps is later used as evidence in a hearing before a referee as it relates to Murphy's residence; this is discussed *infra*.

Carolina/South Carolina boundary dispute – another project he was currently working on. (R. pp. 1472-73).

Gantt met with Bowers days prior to receiving Bowers's letter dated January 11, 2013, claiming that Murphy is a resident of Lexington County. (R. p. 1110). Gantt received Bowers's letter shortly thereafter. (R. p. 1059).

Roberts's office dealt with similar boundary issues in the past, specifically including one line dispute between Jasper and Beaufort Counties. (R. p. 1198). Roberts testified that he contacted Zupan when dealing with the Jasper-Beaufort issue, and Zupan informed him that the process to resolve the dispute would require him to make a site visit and perform background research. (R. p. 1133). None of these steps were followed during the investigation into Murphy's residence. (R. p. 1133)

**h. Expert Opinion on Bowers's Investigation**

Murphy hired an expert, Ronnie L. Tyler ("Tyler"), to review and provide an opinion on the methods and procedures that Bowers and his office used. (R. pp. 1790-1813). Tyler is a professional land surveyor, land boundary surveyor, and forensic surveyor. (R. pp. 1790-1813) Tyler also understands geodetic surveying. (R. pp. 1814-18). Tyler provided a detailed report after reviewing Bowers's January 11, 2013 letter to Gantt, Zupan's maps that were used in the hearing before the referee, plats, surveys, and other documents. (R. pp. 1790-1813).

Specifically, Tyler made the following findings as part of his report:

The maps, by the South Carolina Geodetic Survey, presented at the Hearing of February 15, 2013, . . . are not plats of survey or maps of survey and do not report the accurate location of the existing Richland and Lexington County boundary . . . .

The azimuths reported in the hearing as being for the boundaries from Rocky Ford are not the same bearings that are reported for these boundaries in the Code of Laws and is not the same bearing

reported on the old plat of survey that created the Richland and Lexington County boundary north from the point at Rocky Ford.

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