THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
In The Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002055
Case No. 2004-CP-40-1915

RECEIVED

JUL 06 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Allegro, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Emmett J. Scully, Synergetic, Inc.,
George C. Corbin, and Yvonne Yarborough, Defendants,

Of Whom Emmett J. Scully, George Corbin, and
Yvonne Yarborough are Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert L. Widener
Richard J. Morgan
MCNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-9800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁸ For a fuller discussion of *Black* and *Hoard*, see pp. 20-22, *infra*.

2. Corbin's argument that the trial court misunderstood and misapplied the law on the "intent to harm" element of conspiracy has no merit and any presumed error was harmless.

Defendant Corbin bases his argument on heavily redacted quotations from the Record on Appeal. (Pet. Br. at 11). When one reads the entire colloquy between the trial court and Corbin's counsel, it is clear that the trial court was saying that a conspiracy existed even if the specific harm caused by the conspiracy was not the harm specifically intended by the defendant. (A-1 at 411-414). In any event, and assuming the trial court erred, it nevertheless reached the right result because, as shown earlier, there was sufficient evidence to create a question for the jury. It is axiomatic that a trial court will be affirmed if it reaches the right result, albeit for the wrong reason. *Moorhead v. First Piedmont Bank & Trust Co.*, 256 S.E.2d 414, 416 (S.C. 1979); *Russell v. Hines*, 103 S.E. 545, 546 (S.C. 1920). Moreover, any presumed error is also harmless error because, as demonstrated earlier: (1) all of Defendant Corbin's "intent to harm" arguments are barred by the law of the case doctrine; and (2) this issue is not properly before this Court, because it is not set forth in Defendants' Statement of Issues.

3. Corbin's argument that the Court of Appeals did not address his argument that the trial court misunderstood and misapplied the law on "intent to harm" is not properly before this Court, has no merit, and any presumed error was harmless.

Defendant Corbin makes this argument in a single sentence: "In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals did not address the trial court's misinterpretation and misapplication of civil conspiracy's second element [intent to harm]." (Pet. Br. 13). A single-sentence argument is too conclusory to present any issue for review. *Bean v. South Carolina Cent. R.R. Co.*, 709 S.E.2d 99, 113 (S.C. App. 2011). In any event, it was unnecessary for the Court of Appeals to address this issue because, as shown earlier, the evidence created a

jury question on whether Corbin intended to harm Plaintiff. Thus, there was no error and any error in not addressing this issue was harmless error. Any presumed error is also harmless because, as demonstrated earlier: (1) all of Defendant Corbin's "intent to harm" arguments are barred by the law of the case doctrine; and (2) this issue is not properly before this Court, because it is not set forth in Defendants' Statement of Issues.

4. Corbin's argument that the Court of Appeals erred in its analysis of the evidence and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence has no merit, and any presumed error was harmless.

In this argument, Defendant Corbin attacks the Court of Appeals' analysis of the evidence and whether it created a jury question on whether Corbin intended to harm Plaintiff. (Pet. Br. 13-14). As shown earlier, the evidence created a question for the jury. As shown below, Defendant Corbin's specific attacks on the Court of Appeals' analysis have no merit.

Corbin first argues that his knowledge about Plaintiff's clients "has no bearing on the issue of intent to harm." (Pet. Br. 13). To the contrary, this knowledge gave Corbin the ability to assist Defendants Scully and Yarborough in their undisputed plan to harm Plaintiff.

Corbin next argues that his failure to inform McCarthy of his "conversations" with and "advice" to Scully "has no bearing on whether Corbin intended to harm Allegro in providing that advice," because McCarthy "is not the plaintiff." (Pet. Br. 13) (all emphasis in original). To the contrary, Corbin's failure to discuss the matter with McCarthy (or with Plaintiff's Board of Directors) belies his professed intent of helping Allegro. McCarthy was the principal and only other owner of Allegro. If Corbin's intent was to help Allegro, he naturally would have discussed the ongoing dispute with her (or the Board) in

attempting to resolve the dispute for the benefit of Allegro. At the very least, his failure to discuss the matter with McCarthy or the Board permitted the jury to conclude that Corbin's real intent was to help Scully and Yarborough, not Allegro, and that he had chosen Scully's side in the fight between Scully and McCarthy over ownership of Allegro and its business, including its clients.

Corbin next argues that the Court of Appeals erred in focusing on Scully's option (identified by Corbin) to form a competing business, because it was "merely an option not a recommendation." (Pet. Br. 13) (all emphasis in original). The jury, however, was free to conclude that Corbin's presentation of this "option" belied his claimed intent of only trying to help Allegro. Having the President and key employees leave Allegro to set up a competing business could never be in the best interest of Allegro. Again, this evidence permitted the jury to conclude that Corbin had chosen Scully's side in the fight between Scully and McCarthy to the detriment of Allegro.

In any event, any error is harmless error because, as demonstrated earlier: (1) all of Defendant Corbin's "intent to harm" arguments are barred by the law of the case doctrine; (2) there was sufficient evidence to create a question for the jury; and (3) this issue is not properly before this Court, because it is not set forth in Defendants' Statement of Issues.

5. Corbin's argument that a jury cannot disregard uncontradicted testimony is without merit, is not properly before this Court and, in any event, any presumed error was harmless.

Citing this Court's opinion in *Hoard v. Roper*, 694 S.E.2d 1 (S.C. 2010), which was an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, Defendant Corbin argues that one cannot avoid a directed verdict by asserting a jury may disbelieve uncontradicted testimony. This argument fails for several reasons.

First, and foremost, Corbin has misread this Court's opinion in *Hoard* and grossly overstated its holding. There, this Court made it clear that the "uncontradicted testimony" rule is limited to summary judgment motions and does not apply to jury trials: "A jury's prerogative to disregard uncontradicted testimony is a *sound principle of law*, but it has no application in a summary judgment setting." 694 S.E.2d at 6 (emphasis added). This appeal arises from a jury trial, not an order granting summary judgment. Thus, the ruling in *Hoard* does not apply here.

Second, in reversing the Court of Appeals in *Hoard*, this Court specifically noted and approved the Court of Appeals' opinions in *Black v. Hodge*, 410 S.E.2d 595 (S.C. App. 1991) and *Ross v. Paddy*, 532 S.E.2d 612 (S.C. App. 2000). *Hoard*, 694 S.E.2d at 6. In both of these opinions, the Court of Appeals rejected arguments that the appellant was entitled to a directed verdict based on the uncontradicted testimony of a witness. In *Hoard*, this Court specifically approved these rejections:

In *Black*, the court of appeals affirmed a jury verdict for Respondent Hodge despite Black's contention on appeal that the jury was required to accept her uncontradicted testimony. There, the court of appeals' decision correctly stated that a jury is not required to accept uncontradicted witness testimony, as credibility is a question for the jury. Likewise, in *Ross*, on appeal from a jury verdict, the court of appeals found issues concerning witness credibility were properly resolved by the jury. The principle enunciated in *Black* and *Ross* is sound.

Hoard, 694 S.E.2d at 6 (citations omitted)(emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' opinion in *Black* is particularly instructive. There, the plaintiff's testimony that she was injured in the accident was uncontradicted, and she argued the jury was therefore required to accept her testimony. *Black*, 410 S.E.2d at 596. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, because there remained the question of the plaintiff's credibility, including her interest in the outcome of the litigation. *Id.* The same is true here – Corbin is a defendant

and therefore has an obvious interest in the outcome of this litigation, which implicitly raises the question of his credibility. Such matters are quintessential jury questions.

Third, “intent” is a state of mind that generally can only be known to that person. Thus, if one accepts Corbin’s “uncontradicted testimony” argument on his intent/state of mind, a plaintiff can never recover for conspiracy if the defendant denies any intent to harm in the absence of a prior inconsistent statement. And, with the possible exception of a defendant’s co-conspirators, it is highly unlikely that a defendant would ever admit to any one that he or she was acting with an intent to harm the plaintiff. And it is highly unlikely that any co-conspirator would divulge any such statement.

Finally, as shown earlier, the evidence and inferences permit a conclusion that Corbin was not acting in the best interest of Allegro as he claimed to be. In any event, Defendant Corbin’s argument is not properly before this Court.

It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (S.C. 2009). Defendants never argued to the trial court that Corbin’s “uncontradicted” testimony entitled Corbin to judgment as a matter of law, because it could not be dis-believed by the jury.⁹ Thus, Defendants’ argument is not properly before this Court.

Certiorari lies only for those issues that were first raised to the Court of Appeals. Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR. Here, Defendants did not make their “uncontradicted testimony” argument to the Court of Appeals in their Brief of Appellants. (A-2 at 887-943). Thus, the issue is not properly before this Court. Defendants first made this argument in their Reply

⁹ Defendants did not raise this issue in their motions for a directed verdict at the close of Plaintiff’s case or the close of the evidence. (A-1 at 344-347; 400-416). Defendants also did not raise this issue in their motion for JNOV or new trial (A-2 at 759-772) or in their motion to alter or amend. (A-2 at 814-821).

Brief (A-3 at 994), but it is axiomatic that an argument cannot be made for the first time in a reply brief. *McClurg v. Deaton*, 716 S.E.2d 887, 888 n.2 (S.C. 2011).

In any event, any error is harmless error because, as demonstrated earlier: (1) all of Defendant Corbin's "intent to harm" arguments are barred by the law of the case doctrine; (2) there was sufficient evidence to create a question for the jury; and (3) this issue is not properly before this Court, because it is not set forth in Defendants' Statement of Issues.

II. Defendants' arguments on the "special damages" element of civil conspiracy are not properly before this Court and/or have no merit.

It is undisputed that Defendants did not make a directed verdict motion at the close of the evidence that preserves their appellate argument on "special damages." Thus, their appellate arguments are not preserved for appeal under axiomatic principles of law. Defendants argue, however, that they are entitled to a JNOV based on their "special damages" argument, because the trial court prevented them from making a directed verdict motion at the close of the evidence and prevented them from renewing the motion that they made at the close of Plaintiff's evidence. (Pet. Br. at 15-18). This "cut-off" argument is not properly before this Court and has no merit.

A. Defendants' "cut-off" argument is not properly before this Court, because Defendants did not timely raise it to the trial court or the Court of Appeals.

It is axiomatic that, to preserve an issue for appellate review, an appellant must present the issue to the trial court at the first opportunity. *James v. Anne's, Inc.*, 701 S.E.2d 730, 732-733 (S.C. 2010); *State v. Aldret*, 509 S.E.2d 811, 813 (S.C. 1999). When circumstances prevent an appellant from raising an issue to the trial court at the very first opportunity, he or she must raise the issue at the first opportunity thereafter to preserve the issue for appeal. *State v. Liberte*, 521 S.E.2d 744, 746 n.1 (S.C. App. 1999). Here, even if

one accepts Defendants' "cut-off" argument at face value, it is nevertheless not properly before this Court for review for several reasons.

After the alleged "cut-off" during the directed verdict motion at the close of the evidence, Defendants could have but failed to raise the "cut-off" issue in their post-trial motion for JNOV and a new trial, but they failed to do so. (A-2 at 766-767, ¶ 15; see also *id.* at 756-772, *passim*). In its return to Defendants' post-trial motions, Plaintiff specifically argued that Defendants' "special damages" argument was not properly before the court, because Defendants had not made a directed verdict motion on this ground. (A-2 at 770, ¶ 15). The trial court held a hearing on Defendants' post-trial motions, but Defendants never raised their "cut-off" argument to the trial court. (A-2 at 481-504, *passim*).

The trial court denied Defendants' post-trial motions in a written order. (A-1 at 18-30). The trial court specifically held that Defendants had not made a "special damages" argument at the directed verdict stage and, therefore, they could not make that argument in seeking JNOV. (A-1 at 20-21). Defendants filed a motion to alter or amend. (A-2 at 814-821). Therein, and for the *first* time, Defendants hinted at their current cut-off argument by noting the trial court's ruling, recapping their "special damages" directed verdict motion at the close of Plaintiff's case, and then making the following assertion:

At the close of all evidence, Defendants *renewed their motion* for directed verdict as to the civil conspiracy claim and after a brief discussion were informed that the Court has "heard enough about civil [conspiracy]" and were directed to move onto the next cause of action.

(A-2 at 820, ¶ 8) (emphasis added). Defendants never renewed the motion made at the close of Plaintiff's case. (See A-1 at 400-416, *passim*). Defendants did not argue that it was error to "cut-off" their directed verdict motion or that, had the trial court not done so,

then Defendants would have made a “special damages” argument or renewed their prior motion. (See Motion to Alter or Amend, A-2 at 814-821, *passim*).

It is axiomatic that an appellant cannot raise an issue the first time in a motion to alter or amend. *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (S.C. 2009). Here, Defendants could have and should have raised their “cut-off” argument in their JNOV/new trial motion, particularly given that Plaintiff’s opposition to that motion included the argument that Defendants had failed to make a direct verdict motion on “special damages” at the close of the evidence. Having failed to do so, they could not raise this issue in their motion to alter or amend and, therefore, Defendants cannot make any “cut-off” argument on appeal.

On appeal to the Court of Appeals, Defendants did not make any “cut-off” argument in their Brief of Appellants. (A-2 at 936-937). Rather, they incorrectly implied that they had made their “special damages” argument in their directed verdict motion at the close of the evidence. (*Id.* at 936). Plaintiff responded that Defendants’ “special damages” argument was not preserved for appeal, because Defendants had not made this argument in their directed verdict motion at the close of the evidence. (Resp. Br., A-3 at 953-955). In reply, Defendants made their present “cut-off” argument for the first time in their Reply Brief. (A-3 at 989-991).

It is axiomatic that an argument cannot be made for the first time in a reply brief. *McClurg v. Deaton*, 716 S.E.2d 887, 888 n.2 (S.C. 2011). Thus, Defendants’ “cut-off” argument was never properly before the Court of Appeals and, therefore, the Court of Appeals did not err in rejecting it. Indeed, since Defendants did not timely raise their “cut-off” argument to the trial court or the Court of Appeals, it would have been reversible error

for the Court of Appeals to reach this issue. See, e.g., *Johnson v. Lloyd*, 757 S.E.2d 705 (S.C. 2014) (reversing Court of Appeals for reaching an issue that was not preserved for appeal).

Certiorari lies only for those issues that were first raised to the Court of Appeals. Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR. Here, Defendants' "cut-off" argument was never properly before the Court of Appeals, because it was not timely raised to the trial court or the Court of Appeals. Accordingly, Defendant's "cut-off" argument is not properly before this Court. In any event, their argument has no merit.

B. Defendants' "cut-off" argument has no merit.

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